Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-11-2008

Callies v. O'Neal Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34968

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

Insofar as is germane to this appeal, this lawsuit arises out of a dispute between Complete Property Management and Investment Realty, Inc., henceforth called "CPM" in this document, and Tricia Callies, henceforth called "Callies" in this document, on one side and Charter Builders, Inc., Charter Pointe Apartments, LLC, and Silver Oaks, LLC, henceforth respectively called "CBI", "Charter Pointe" and "Silver Oaks" in this document, on the other over real estate commissions claimed by CPM and Callies to be owed by CBI, Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks. The crux of the dispute for purposes of this appeal is the sufficiency of the legal descriptions in the listing agreements executed by the parties.

Course of Proceedings Below

On October 3, 2006, October 24, 2006 and November 8, 2006, Tricia Callies, the broker for CPM, henceforth called "Callies" in this document, CPM and other plaintiffs filed a series of three complaints against a number of defendants, including CBI, Charter Pointe, Silver Oaks and George O'Neal, the president of CBI, henceforth called "O'Neal" in this document. R, Vol. I, pp. 20-29, 65-71, and 78-117. These lawsuits asserted a number of causes of action connected with the limited liability companies, including claims for breach of contract, unjust enrichment and judicial dissolution. It is the third of these complaints, that filed on November 8, 2006, as case no. CV OC 0620977, R, Vol. I, pp. 78-117, that set forth the claims for the real estate commissions at issue in this appeal. On November 15, 2006, CBI, Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks filed counterclaims against Callies in the first of the lawsuits, that filed on October 3, 2006, as case no. CV OC 0618504. R, Vol. I, pp. 30-55. Those counterclaims sought, among other things, a declaration that the listing

agreements at issue in the third lawsuit were invalid for failure to set forth a legally enforceable description of the property concerned by the contracts. R, Vol. I, pp. 38-42. Callies denied this counterclaim on November 30, 2006, referring in her answer to the complaint previously filed in the third case. R, Vol. I, pp. 56-63. On March 16, 2007, the three lawsuits were consolidated into the first action, case no. 0618504, which brought together, into one case, the conflicting pleadings described above. R, Vol. I, pp. 6, 64 and 77.

On April 18, 2007, CBI and Charter Pointe filed motions for partial summary judgment seeking the dismissal of the claims for payment of the commissions and a judicial determination that the listing agreements were unenforceable for want of a valid property description. R, Vol. I, pp. 122-125. While undersigned counsel, who substituted into this action only after the appeal had been filed, does not see a comparable motion filed by Silver Oaks in the record, it is clear that the parties and court deemed that defendant to have joined in the motions as well. R, Vol. II, p. 302.

The trial court granted the requested partial summary judgments by memorandum decision and order entered on August 31, 2007. R, Vol. II, pp. 302-318. On the strength of this decision, an amended judgment was entered on December 19, 2007, in which the court recited that CBI, Charter Pointe and Silver Oakes had recovered judgment on all claims regarding the commissions, including their request for declaratory relief and CPM's and Callies' claim for monetary damages. R, Vol. II, pp. 325-327. This amended judgment included a certificate executed pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. R, Vol. II, pp. 327. CPM and Callies filed their notice of appeal on January 28, 2008. R, Vol. II, pp. 330-335.

Statement of Facts

Consistent with the rules by which summary judgments are to be evaluated on appeal, Callies and CPM state the facts in the record in the light most favorable to them, taking advantage of any inferences that may reasonably be drawn in their favor from the facts appearing of record and resolving any doubts against the moving party. *Matter of Estate of Keeven*, 126 Idaho 290, 882 P.2d 457 (Ct.App. 1994). Those facts show the claims against Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks to be generally alike for purposes of this appeal.

Callies and CPM entered into their listing agreement with Charter Pointe on March 1, 2005. R, Exh. 7, paragraph 2. The property that they were to sell for Charter Pointe consisted of 32 four-plexes, comprising a total of 128 units. R, Exh. 8, paragraph 2. The legal description of the property on which the units were to be placed had been prepared before the contract was signed, but the final plat detailing the individual units was not recorded until April 11, 2006. R, Exh. 8, paragraph 2. Before that recording, on February 28, 2006, the listing agreement had been extended. R. Exh. 8, paragraph 2. Moreover, before the execution of the extension agreement, R, Exh. 8, p. 15, O'Neal had provided Callies with individual legal descriptions based upon a preliminary plat showing the location of the individual units. R, Exh. 8 paragraph 2. At that time, this plat was inserted by the parties into their files pertaining to the listing agreement. R, Exh. 8, paragraph 2. Once the plat was approved but before any closings occurred on the purchase and sale of any individual units, O'Neal provided Callies with definitive legal descriptions for each of the individual units in the project. R, Exh. 8, paragraph 2. This description tied the individual units to the final plat. R, Exh. 8, pp. 12-13.

Not until after the recording of the final plat did Charter Pointe and the purchasers located by Callies and CPM proceed to closing. Some of the closings occurred as scheduled, but in other instances the buyers backed out of the contracts because Charter Pointe failed to complete the units on time. R, Exh. 8, paragraphs 9 and 13. Not until immediately before the closings began to occur did anyone question whether Callies or CPM were entitled to the commissions from Charter Pointe. R, Exh. 8, paragraphs 6 and 7.

The facts concerning the Silver Oaks development differed from those of Charter Pointe in that the execution of the listing agreement was not completed until March 7, 2005, and this project consisted of 70 four-plexes, or 280 units. R, Exh. 9, paragraph 2. Moreover, the legal description of the property on which the Silver Oaks units were to be placed was not prepared until March 14, 2005, after the listing agreement had been signed. R, Exh. 9, paragraph 2. However, once this occurred, the general progression of the Silver Oaks project was like that of Charter Pointe. O'Neal provided Callies with legal descriptions for the individual units based upon the preliminary plat showing the location of the individual units before the listing agreement was extended on February 28, 2006. R, Exh. 9, paragraphs 2 and 5. This plat was placed by the parties into their files pertaining to the listing agreement. R, Exh. 9, paragraph 2. Not until Callies raised some of the financial issues involved in the litigation did anyone question whether Callies and CPM were entitled to the commissions from Silver Oaks. R, Exh. 9, paragraphs 7 and 8.

The differences in the facts relating to the two projects are not significant for present purposes. Distilled to their essence, the facts show that, when the listing agreements were originally signed, there was no legal description available for the individual units that Callies

and CPM were to sell for either Charter Pointe or Silver Oakes. However, in both instances, the parties later added legal descriptions for the individual units set forth in preliminary plats to their contracts and included the plats in the relevant files before any transaction closed. In the case of Charter Pointe, O'Neal provided Callies with definitive legal descriptions for the individual units before any sales of the individual units closed.

At no time in the marketing of either project was there any confusion between Callies on one side and Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks on the other as to what property was being sold. R. Exh. 8, paragraphs 2 and 6 and Exh. 9, paragraphs 2 and 7. The contracts and the process followed by the parties in the Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks projects were the same as those which they had successfully used in the marketing of seven other projects: Concord Commons, Boomer, Fenway Park Fourplexes and Townhomes, Pheasant Run, Lake Forest, Hampton Estates and Foxboro. R, Exh. 8, paragraph 2 and Exh. 9, paragraph 2. These procedures were intended to enable the developers, Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks, to pay for the development of their projects with the funds generated by contracts negotiated by Callies and CPM before the legal descriptions for the property were available. R. Exh. 8, paragraphs 2 and Exh. 9, paragraph 2. All of the contracts that were signed and sales that occurred were brokered by Callies, R, Exh. 8, paragraph 9 and Exh. 9, paragraph 11. Callies devoted substantial time to the projects and incurred costs of \$97,219.26 in marketing the properties. In addition, she turned down many offers to work on other projects because of her involvement in the projects at issue in this litigation. R, Exh. 8, paragraphs 10 and 12 and Exh. 9, paragraphs 14 and 15.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err in failing to recognize the genuine issues of material fact that precluded it from entering summary judgment in this action?
- 2. Did the trial court err in concluding that the listing agreements were unenforceable for lack of legally enforceable descriptions of the property to be sold pursuant to the agreements?
- 3. Did the trial court err in analyzing the motions for summary judgment on the basis of Idaho Code Section 9-503 rather than Idaho Code Section 9-508?
- 4. Did the trial court err in its analysis of the rights of CPM and Callies to recover damages on the theory of partial performance?
- 5. Did the trial court err in its analysis of the rights of CPM and Callies to recover damages on the basis of quasi-estoppel?
 - 6. Is Callies entitled to the attorney fees incurred in the course of this appeal?

 STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from the grant of a summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in ruling on the original motion. Intermountain Forest Management v. Louisiana Pacific Corp., 136 Idaho 233, 235, 31 P.3d 921, 923 (2001). Summary judgment is appropriate only if there is no genuine issue of material fact and if the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Sacred Heart Medical Center v. Boundary County, 138 Idaho 534, 66 P.3d 238 (2003). The burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact rests at all times with the party moving for summary judgment. Tingley v. Harrison, 125 Idaho 86, 89, 867 P.2d 960, 963 (1994). The appellate court liberally construes the record in the light most

favorable to the party opposing the motion for summary judgment and draws all reasonable inferences and conclusions in that party's favor. *Rudd v. Merritt*, 138 Idaho 256, 66 P.3d 230 (2003). When questions of law are presented, this Court exercises free review, is not bound by findings of the district court, and is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented. *Lettunich v. Key Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 141 Idaho 362, 366, 109 P.3d 1104, 1108 (2005).

ARGUMENT

1. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Recognize the Genuine Issues of Material Fact Created by the Affidavits of Tricia Callies That Precluded the Summary Judgment at Issue in This Appeal.

In its analysis of the facts of the case, the trial court focused upon the state of the property descriptions as of the signing of the contracts and failed to take into account the additions to, and revisions of, the original agreements as the projects evolved:

Here, although the listing agreement explicitly stated that a legal description was attached as 'addendum # 1,' and provided that the 'addendum must accompany the original listing,' the addenda were not attached to any of the agreements. . . . Moreover, because the record unequivocally establishes that the listing agreements erroneously stated that the legal descriptions were attached, when in fact no such descriptions were affixed, when construing I.C. § 9-503 in conjunction with I.C. § 54-2050 as in *Garner*, the Court finds that the property descriptions are insufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds and fail to meet the statutory requirement of I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b).

R, Vol. II, pp. 311-312. Neither CPM nor Callies has claimed that the original agreements included a detailed description of the property to be sold at the time that they were signed. However, both CPM and Callies assert that, whatever the deficiencies of the agreements in their original form, the parties remedied those problems by subsequently adding legally enforceable property descriptions to the contracts before any transactions closed and before CPM or Callies made any claim that commissions were due. In taking this position,

CPM and Callies recognize that O'Neal has taken a contrary position in his affidavit by claiming that he never consented to the addition of the property descriptions to the agreement. R, Exh. 2, paragraphs 9 and 10. But all that testimony does is give rise to an issue of fact that should have been resolved by a jury after hearing all of the evidence rather than by the court on the motions for partial summary judgment. *Hayes v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*, 143 Idaho 204, 41 P.3d 1073 (2006).

There is no rule of law to the effect that the parties to a contract cannot amend the agreement to correct an omission, oversight or error in the original documentation or even just because they choose to do so. To the contrary, Idaho law expressly permits such revisions when the evidence supports the conclusion that they actually occurred. Parties are free to amend their agreements. *Traylor v. Henkels & McCoy, Inc.*, 99 Idaho 560, 585 P.2d 970 (1978). The terms of a written contract may be varied, modified, waived, annulled or wholly set aside by any subsequently executed contract, whether the later agreement be in writing or parol. *Silver Syndicate, Inc. v. Sunshine Mining Co.*, 101 Idaho 226, 611 P.2d 1011 (1979); *Harrington v. McCarthy*, 91 Idaho 307, 420 P.2d 790 (1966). Consent to a modification of a prior written agreement may be implied from a course of conduct consistent with the asserted modification. *Resource Engineering, Inc. v. Siler*, 94 Idaho 935, 500 P.2d 836 (1972); *Jones v. Micron Technology, Inc.*, 129 Idaho 241, 923 P.2d 486 (Ct.App. 1996).

The listing agreements at issue in this lawsuit are "RE-16 EXCLUSIVE SELLER REPRESENTATION AGREEMENT" forms. In relevant part, the form documents provide:

"2. PROPERTY ADDRESS AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION. The property address and the complete legal description of the property are as set forth below.

Address County

Legal Description

City

Zip

or "Legal Description Attached as addendum # listing)"

. (Addendum must accompany original

(Exhibits # 8 and 9 to Clerk's Record on Appeal). Nothing in this printed language states when the addendum must be attached to or accompany the printed contract. The district simply assumed that the description had to be attached when the contract was originally signed. In so doing, the court ignored the rule that the conduct of the parties to the contract is an important factor that should be considered in interpreting an agreement in the event of a dispute as to its meaning, Commercial Credit Corp. v. S&E Enterprises, Inc., 97 Idaho 441, 546 P.2d 396 (1976), and all of the historical evidence offered by Callies concerning the seven other subdivisions that the parties had sold using the same contract forms and following the same process that was employed in the marketing of the two projects at issue. That evidence uniformly militates in favor of the interpretation that the agreement permitted the parties to incorporate legally enforceable property descriptions into their agreements at some time after the documents were originally signed.

Moreover, this conclusion corroborates other testimony by Callies that, after the execution of the original documents, the parties added to their contracts legal descriptions of the individual units provided by O'Neal in the form of preliminary and final plats as those documents became available in the course of developing the two projects at issue in this appeal. Since on a motion for summary judgment, all of Callies' testimony must be presumed to be true, *Hei v. Holzer*, 139 Idaho 31, 73 P.2d 94 (2003), this court cannot reasonably hold, as a matter of law, that the parties did not contemplate the addition of

property descriptions to their agreements as those descriptions became available.

Moreover, even if the parties did originally contemplate the attachment of the property descriptions at the time that they executed the original documents, the case law cited above amply demonstrates that they were free to alter and amend their original contracts at a later time. The testimony by Callies regarding the later inclusion by the parties of detailed property descriptions into their agreements is entirely consistent with the conclusion that the parties did, in fact, amend their agreements as they progressed through the projects.

The trial court's analysis simply assumed away these factual issues and adopted the contested testimony of O'Neal to the effect that he had not consented to any addition to, or revision of, the original agreements. R, Exh. 2, paragraphs 9 and 10. By doing that, the court implicitly decided the disputed issue of fact in favor of CBI, Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks based upon its perception of relative merits of the affidavits of O'Neal and Callies. It is well established that this is erroneous on the context of summary judgment proceedings. *Collord v. Cooley*, 92 Idaho 789, 451 P.2d 535 (1969). If the record permits conflicting inferences, or where reasonable minds can reach difference conclusions from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. *G&M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co.*, 119 Idaho 514, 808 P.2d 851 (1991). The summary judgment granted by the district court in this case should be reversed on account of its failure to recognize the issues of fact that precluded that judgment.

2. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding that the Listing Agreements Were Not Enforceable for Lack of Legally Enforceable Descriptions of the Property.

The analysis of Section 1 of this brief now brings us to the question of whether the

legal descriptions added to the agreements after they were signed, whether by original intent or by subsequent amendment of the contracts, were "legally enforceable" under Idaho Code Section 9-508 or Idaho Code Section 9-503. It is important to note that the trial court never reached this issue, because neither CBI, Charter Pointe nor Silver Oaks made any argument that the property descriptions used by Callies and CPM in marketing the property were deficient. Instead, the only claim advanced in the motions for summary judgment was the position, shown in Section 1 of this brief to be untenable, that the agreements were not enforceable simply because the property descriptions were not a part of the agreements when they were originally signed. The sufficiency of the descriptions that Callies asserts to have been added to the contracts may be important, however, given this court's power to affirm the decision of the trial court on grounds not used by the trial court as the basis for its decision. See McCuskey v. Canyon County, 123 Idaho 657, 851 P.2d 953 (1993); Martin v. Spalding, 133 Idaho 469, 988 P.2d 695 (Ct.App. 1998).

As explained by this court in *Central Idaho Agency, Inc. v. Turner*, 92 Idaho 306, 442 P.2d 442 (1968), Idaho Code Section 9-508 provides that, in the context of listing agreements like those at issue in this case, the descriptions of the property affected by the agreements are sufficient where it is shown that there is no misunderstanding between the seller and broker as to the property involved and where the descriptions are sufficient to enable the broker to locate the property, show it and point out its boundaries to the prospective purchasers.

In this case, viewed on the light most favorable to CPM and Callies, the record shows that O'Neal gave Callies legal descriptions of the individual units in the projects at issue that were based either on preliminary or final plats, depending upon the status of the

project at the time. No one has claimed any misunderstanding as to the property that was involved in any one of the many agreements brokered by Callies that are at issue in this lawsuit. No one has claimed that Callies was not able to show the property to the prospective buyers. There is no evidence that any agreement brokered by Callies failed to close on account of a misunderstanding by anyone as to what property was being bought or sold. To the contrary, the fact that many of the transactions brokered by Callies actually closed reasonably suggests that she was, in fact, able to show the property adequately. Thus, the record establishes that the descriptions appended to the listing agreements at issue in this lawsuit meet the standards established by Idaho Code Section 9-508 and Central Idaho Agency.

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