## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-13-2008

# Callies v. O'Neal Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34968

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

#### 4. ARGUMENT

i. The Trial Court Was Correct When it Held There Was No Genuine Issue of Material Fact In the Record Which Would Have Precluded the Court From Granting Summary Judgment.

CPM, in their brief, attempt to divert attention from the relevant facts in the record, specifically that the Agreements are void for lack of a legally enforceable description of the properties, by highlighting irrelevant disputed facts in the record. CBI

is not arguing that there are no disputed facts in the record. Rather, those disputed facts are not material to the court's decision. The applicable statute requires that a brokerage representation agreement/commission agreement be written and contain a legally enforceable description of the property being sold. I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b).

There is no dispute in the record that the Agreements did not contain a valid or enforceable legal description at the time they were entered into. It is clear from the record that the only descriptions given of the properties contemplated by the Agreements were "TBD Charter Pointe" and "TBD Ten Mile/Franklin." (R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 3, 5, Exs. A-B). It is also clear from the record that CBI at no time agreed to add legal descriptions to the Agreements subsequent to their execution. (R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 9-10). These are the only facts that are relevant to the dispute at hand.

A contract which is rendered ambiguous due to the lack of a valid and enforceable legal description will not have the same standard applied as do other ambiguous contracts and thus, extrinsic or parol evidence is not admissible to clarify the terms of such an agreement. White v. Rehn, 103 Idaho 1, 3, 644 P.2d 323, 325 (1982). Although the agreement at issue in White was for the transfer of property, as compared to the Agreements at dispute here, both still require a legal description of the property they contemplate. That description must be able to sufficiently identify the property without resorting to parol evidence to determine intent of the parties. "The description [cannot be] so inadequate that to allow parol evidence and the surrounding circumstances to be considered would be to supply a description of the property which was omitted from the writing in order to ascertain and locate the land about which the parties negotiated." Id. What CPM and Callies do is confuse alteration and modification with formation. An

unenforceable agreement cannot be modified, as formation is lacking. White v. Rehn, 644 P.2d 323.

Further, a party has the right to rescind an agreement that is unenforceable. *Good v. Hansen*, 110 Idaho 953, 719 P.2d 1213 (Idaho App.,1986). There is undisputed evidence in the record that the legal descriptions were not included or attached to the Agreements, nor had they even been created at the time of execution of the Agreements. (R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 3, 5, Exs. A-B; R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 9-10; R. Vol. I, p. 80-81, ¶ 11, 16). There is also undisputed evidence in the record that shows an agent of Callies' and CPM's requested that those legal descriptions be added to the Agreements in August of 2006. (R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 9-10). Even if the Agreements could have been made enforceable by later addition of the legal descriptions, the record is clear that CBI did not authorize the addition of the legal descriptions to the Agreements subsequent to their execution. (R., Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶ 9-10). Therefore, as described in further detail below, there is no relevant issue of material fact that would have precluded the trial court from granting the CBI's motion for summary judgment as to the unenforceability of the Agreements due to the lack of valid and enforceable legal descriptions.

The facts surrounding the execution of the Agreements and the fact that those Agreements did not contain a legally enforceable description of the Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks properties are the only pertinent facts that should be afforded any examination for purposes of this appeal. They are also the only facts that should be examined to determine the appropriateness of the trial court's ruling that summary judgment should have been granted to CBI, deeming the Agreements unenforceable.

3

ii.

4 5

6

9

8

10 11

12

13 14

15

16

17 18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25 26

27

28 29 Idaho Code § 54-2050 is the Controlling Statute Regarding the Sufficiency of Brokerage Representation Agreements, is Unambiguous and Should Be Interpreted as the Legislature Intended

CPM argues that the trial court erred when it applied the analysis of *Garner v. Bartschi*, 139 Idaho 430, 80 P.3d 1031 (2003), and further argue that I.C. § 9-508 is the controlling statute for purposes of this appeal. Idaho Code § 9-508 states:

REAL ESTATE COMMISSION CONTRACTS TO BE IN WRITING. No contract for the payment of any sum of money or thing of value, as and for a commission or reward for the finding or procuring by one person of a purchaser of real estate of another shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing, signed by the owner of such real estate, or his legal, appointed and duly qualified representative.

I.C. § 9-508 was originally codified in 1919, and was the controlling statute in the analysis of *Central Idaho Agency, Inc. v. Turner*, 92 Idaho 306, 442 P.2d 442 (1968), the case most heavily relied upon by CPM.

However, the Idaho State legislature enacted the Idaho Real Estate License Law in 2000, which created additional requirements for a valid brokerage agreement. I.C. § 54-2001 *et seq.* I.C. § 54-2050 specifically identifies those requirements as follows:

BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION AGREEMENTS -- REQUIRED ELEMENTS. All real estate brokerage representation agreements, whether with a buyer or seller, must be in writing in the manner required by section 54-2085, Idaho Code, and must contain the following contract provisions: Seller representation agreements. Each representation agreement, whether exclusive or nonexclusive, must contain the following provisions: (a) Conspicuous and definite beginning and expiration dates; (b) A legally enforceable description of the property; (c) price and terms; (d) All fees or commissions; and (e) The signature of the owner of the real estate or the owner's legal, appointed and duly qualified representative, and the date of such signature. (3) Prohibited provisions and exceptions -- Automatic renewal clauses. No buyer or seller representation agreement shall contain a provision requiring the party signing the agreement to notify the broker of the party's intention to cancel the agreement after the definite expiration date, unless the representation agreement states that it is completely

nonexclusive and it contains no financial obligation, fee or commission due from the party signing the agreement.

(Emphasis added). The legislature, when it enacted this statute in 2000, subsequent to both the codification of I.C. § 9-508 and the decision in *Central Idaho Agency*, added the requirement that commission agreements contain a legally enforceable description of property, as detailed in I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b).

What CPM is effectively attempting to do is to have this Court render the language of I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b) void, and to give it no legal effect. "It is well established that statutes should be interpreted to mean what the legislature intended them to mean." Walker v. Nationwide Financial Corporation of Idaho, 102 Idaho 266, 268, 629 P.2d 662, 664 (1981). "[I]t is incumbent upon [the Supreme] Court to give a statute an interpretation that will not in effect nullify it…" Id. (citations omitted).

This Court in *Hartley v. Miller-Stephan* stated that it would "assume that the legislature intended what it said in a statute, and [it] will construe statutory terms according to their plain, obvious, and rational meanings." 107 Idaho 688, 690, 692 P.2d 332, 334 (1984) (overruled on other grounds) (citations omitted). This Court went further to state that it would "not construe a statute in a way which makes mere surplusage of the provisions included therein." *Id.* (citations omitted). However, that is exactly what CPM is requesting of the Supreme Court.

The language of I.C. § 54-2050 is clear and unambiguous. It is obvious that the legislature intended brokerage representation agreements to be in writing and contain a valid and enforceable legal description. The Agreements at issue did not. The intent of

the legislature should not now be questioned and the governing law changed to give new meaning to plainly unambiguous statutory language.

The Supreme Court of Idaho addressed the issue of a brokerage representation agreement being unenforceable due to the lack of a legally enforceable description subsequent to its ruling in *Central Idaho Agency*, which CPM is now relying on. In *Garner v. Bartschi*, both a purchase and sale agreement and a brokerage representation agreement were at issue, where the brokerage representation agreement contained a property description that solely stated "4565 Nounan Road, *County* Bear Lake, *City* Nounan, *Zip* 83254, legally described as approx. 500 acres mountain property." 139 Idaho 430, 434, 80 P.3d 1031, 1035 (2003). The Supreme Court, analyzing the requirements of I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b), stated that brokerage representation agreements are required to be in writing and "contain a legally enforceable description of the property." *Garner* at 1037. The Court found that the description contained in the brokerage representation agreement at issue in *Garner* was "not a 'legally enforceable description of the property' as required by I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b) and I.C. § 9-503." *Id*.

The trial court, as in *Garner*, analyzed the enforceability of the Agreements pursuant to I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b) and found that the legal descriptions contained in the Agreements were not enforceable and thus did not comply with that statute. The trial court further made mention of the fact that the Agreements did not comply with the statute of frauds. The fact that the trial court simply made mention of I.C. § 9-503 does not mean that either court intended that to be the controlling statute.

It is immaterial whether the trial court applied I.C. § 9-503 or § 9-508. I.C. § 54-2050 postdates both of those code sections and was obviously created to require

additional information to be present on a commission agreement; that is, in addition to the requirement that the commission agreement being in writing. I.C. § 9-508 merely addresses one of the requirements that I.C. § 54-2050 addresses. Where there is a general statute, and a special or specific statute, dealing with the same subject, the provisions of the special or specific statute will control those of the general statute. *State v. Roderick*, 85 Idaho 80, 84, 375 P.2d 1005, 1007 (1962) (citations omitted). I.C. § 9-508 simply requires that commission agreements be in writing; whereas I.C. § 54-2050 not only requires that they be in writing, but adds five additional requirements, including that they contain a legally enforceable description of the property. I.C. § 9-508 is a generalized version of I.C. § 54-2050, therefore rendering the latter the controlling statute for purposes of this appeal.

Even if it were not immaterial and the trial court was incorrect in analyzing I.C. § 9-503 instead of I.C. § 9-508, it would be a harmless error and would not change the outcome of this case. Real estate commission contracts and brokerage agreements are required in the State of Idaho to be written and to contain a valid legal description which accurately describes the property contemplated in the agreement. If the legislature had intended that there be no requirement of an enforceable legal description in a commission agreement, then they would not have enacted a statute specifically requiring such when a statute was already in effect that required a commission agreement to be in writing.

There is no dispute that the legal descriptions for the Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks properties were not attached to the Agreements executed on March 1, 2005. In fact, the legal description for the properties was not even generated for the properties until

after the Agreements had been executed. Therefore, they did not meet the requirements of I.C. § 54-2050 and were at no time enforceable agreements.

# iii. The Trial Court Was Correct in Concluding That the Listing Agreements Were Unenforceable Due to the Lack of Valid and Enforceable Legal Description of the Properties

It is important to note that the Trial court's Memorandum Decision and Order indicated that the summary judgment was being granted because the legal descriptions contained on the listing agreements "did not satisfy the statute of frauds and fail[ed] to meet the statutory requirements of I.C. § 54-2050(1)(b)." The Court did not specifically state that the listing agreements failed to meet the requirements of I.C. § 9-503, but simply included reference to that statute when it stated that the Agreements failed to meet the statute of frauds. Thus, CPM's argument that I.C. § 9-508 should be applied rather than I.C. § 9-503 is rendered ineffectual, as both code sections are encompassed within the statute of frauds.

CPM did not create valid, enforceable legal descriptions pursuant to Idaho law, regardless of whether I.C. § 9-503 or I.C. § 9-508 was applied. Pursuant to Idaho law, a commission agreement must be in writing and must contain an enforceable legal description of the property. The Agreements in question did not contain valid and enforceable legal descriptions. In fact, CPM did not even request that a legal description of the property be attached until one year and five months after the Agreements were executed and litigation between the parties had erupted. Clearly this is not allowed by Idaho law.

Although CPM and Callies further argue that the Agreements do not state "when the addendum must be attached to or accompany the printed contract," this argument is in

 error. The Agreements do in fact state that the legal descriptions must accompany the original listing; and further state that such description is attached to the listing. (R. Vol. II, Ex. 2, ¶¶ 3-6, Exs. A-B). There is no factual dispute in the record that the legal descriptions for Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks were not attached to the listing agreements at the time of execution of the Agreements, nor had they even been created and finalized at the time the Agreements were entered into. Therefore, for the reasons discussed above, the Agreements were at all times unenforceable for lack of a legally enforceable description of the Charter Pointe and Silver Oaks properties.

iv. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Parol and Extrinsic Evidence Could Not be Admitted to Supply a Legal Description to the Agreements.

CPM incorrectly compares the concept of listing/brokerage representation agreements with other types of contracts; in that they argue that parol and extrinsic evidence can be admitted to supply a valid and enforceable legal description to the Agreements. However, there is a unique difference between these types of contractual agreements due to statutory requirements related to commission agreements; specifically, the requirement that the agreements contain a valid and enforceable legal description. Where a legal description is not included on an agreement which is statutorily required to contain a valid and enforceable legal description, parol and extrinsic evidence will not be allowed to supply such a legal description to the agreement. Lexington Heights Development, LLC v. Crandlemire, 140 Idaho 276, 281, 92 P.3d 526, 531 (2004); Garner, 139 Idaho at 435, 80 P.3d at 1036; and Allen v. Kitchen, 16 Idaho 133, 142, 100 P. 1052, 1054 (1909).

The trial Court cited *Lexington Heights* in its memorandum decision, stating that the general rule that a "legal description would be sufficient 'so long as quantity, identity, or boundaries of property can be determined from the face of the instrument." (R., Vol. II, p. 311). Therefore, the Court followed *Lexington Heights* holding that because the Agreements did not contain a "street address, acreage designation, or any other adequate identification of the boundaries of the property to be conveyed, parol evidence [would] not be admitted to supply any of [those] terms." *Lexington Heights*, 92 P.3d at 531; *Garner*, 139 Idaho at 435, 80 P.3d at 1036; and *Allen v. Kitchen*, 16 Idaho 133, 142, 100 P. 1052, 1054 (1909).

CPM argues that Lexington Heights and Allen do not apply because they deal with real estate purchase and sale agreements and not with commission agreements. However, the trial Court only compared these cases with the current dispute at hand, utilizing Garner as the controlling precedent for which it ruled that the Agreements were unenforceable. Therefore, this argument by CPM is inapplicable.

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